RECEIVED

Dec 10 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

The Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III
Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001351

Blue Ridge Environmental Defense League, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Environmental
Services and Dominion Energy, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Stephen A. Spitz
A Business Law Firm
334 East Bay Street, #194
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 577-6531

Jesse Sanchez
The Law Office of Jesse Sanchez, LLC
751 Johnnie Dodds Blvd., Suite 200
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
(843) 814-8181

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Administrative Law Court erred in allowing DHEC¹ to issue Dominion Energy a Section 401 Water Quality Certification to construct a 14.5-mile natural gas pipeline through certain protected waters and wetlands in violation of applicable state and federal statutes and regulations, including the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1341 et seq.), S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-101, and S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 19-450?

2. Whether the Administrative Law Court erred in allowing DHEC to issue a Section 401 Water Quality Certification where:

- A. Feasible, non-water dependent alternatives exist, including a viable “No-Action Alternative,”
- B. Neither Dominion Energy nor DHEC bothered to assess the effect that installation of the pipeline would have on drinking water in a community where wastewater discharges are already in the 75th percentile,
- C. Construction of the pipeline would directly and indirectly impact rare, threatened and endangered species,
- D. Construction of the pipeline would adversely impact special and unique habitats, including multiple navigable waterbodies and a statutorily-designated State Scenic River; and
- E. Neither Dominion Energy nor DHEC properly considered and/or addressed environmental justice concerns of installing yet another pipeline through a low-income, minority community, all while simultaneously taking heirs property in the process?

¹ During the course of initial briefing, the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC) was abolished and all of its functions, powers and duties were transferred to the South Carolina Department of Environmental Services. For purposes of clarity and continuity of record, all references herein continue to be to DHEC.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Introduction

The central issue in this appeal is whether the Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) erred in allowing the South Carolina Department of Environmental Control (“DHEC”) to issue Dominion Energy South Carolina, Inc. (“Dominion” or “Dominion Energy”) a Section 401 Water Quality Certification (“WQC” or “Certification”) to build a 14.5-mile natural gas main (i.e. pipeline) through certain protected waters and wetlands in violation of applicable state and federal statutes and regulations, including the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1341, S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-101, and S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 19-450.

As set forth below, the Certification should have been denied because (1) Feasible, non-water dependent alternatives exist, (2) Neither Dominion Energy nor DHEC bothered to assess the effect that installation of the pipeline would have on drinking water in a community where wastewater discharges are already in the 75th percentile, (3) construction of the pipeline would directly and indirectly impact rare, threatened and endangered species, (4) construction of the pipeline would adversely impact special and unique habitats, including multiple navigable waterbodies and a statutorily-designated State Scenic River; and (5) neither Dominion Energy nor DHEC properly considered and/or addressed environmental justice concerns of installing yet another pipeline through a low-income, minority community, all while simultaneously taking heirs property in the process.

B. Relevant Procedural History

This matter came before the South Carolina Administrative Law Court pursuant to a Request for Contested Case Hearing filed by the Blue Ridge Environmental Defense League (“BREDL” or “Appellant”) pursuant to section 44-1-60 of the South Carolina Code (2018) and section 1-23-600 of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2022). (Request for Contested Hearing, R.

pp. 401-427). BREDL challenged the decision of the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control to issue Dominion Energy (“Dominion” or “Dominion Energy”) a Section 401 Water Quality Certification pursuant to regulation 61-101 of the South Carolina Code of Regulations (2012). (R. at Ibid.; Final Order, R. pp. 1-37). The Certification, which the Department issued on February 4, 2022, allows Dominion to install a natural gas main under Jefferies Creek and in Mills Branch, Bigham Branch, Briar Branch, Barfield Mill Creek, Bullock Branch, and other wetlands and unnamed tributaries to the Great Pee Dee River in Florence County, South Carolina. (Certification, R. pp. 88-90; Final Order at R. pp. 1-2).

BREDL requested a final review conference with the Department’s Board, which the Board denied, rendering the staff decision the final agency decision. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(F) (2018). (Request for Final Review, R. pp. 91-64). On April 13, 2022, BREDL then filed a Request for Contested Case Hearing with the ALC. (R. pp. 401-427). The ALC conducted a hearing in this matter from February 27 through March 1, 2023. (Trial Transcript, R. pp. 490-792; Depo Designations, Petitioner’s Exhs. 75, 76, and 77, R. pp. 793-899). On July 24, 2023, the ALC issued an order allowing DHEC to issue Dominion Energy a Section 401 Water Quality Certification to construct the subject pipeline. (Final Order, R. pp. 1-37). This appeal follows.

C. Statement of the Facts.

1. The Pipeline Project

The instant appeal arises from Appellant’s challenge to DHEC’s decision to issue Dominion Energy a Section 401 Water Quality Certification pursuant to regulations 61-101 and 19-450 of the South Carolina Code of Regulations. The Certification authorizes the construction of a gas main in Jefferies Creek, Mills Branch, Bigham Branch, Briar Branch, Barfield Mill Creek, Bullock Branch, wetlands, and unnamed tributaries to the Great Pee Dee River in Florence County, South Carolina that will result, *inter alia*, in temporary excavation impacts,

temporary clearing impacts, permanent fill impacts, permanent clearing impacts to wetlands and streams. (Final Order, R. pp. 1-37).

Dominion Energy is proposing to construct approximately 76,218 LF of new 16-inch diameter steel natural gas main that runs from River Neck Road to the Kingsburg Valve Station in Florence County, South Carolina. (R. at Ibid., Request for Final Review Conference, R. pp. 91-164). The project consists of the installation of a 16-inch gas main within an approximately 40-foot-wide existing easements and a 10-foot-wide expansion of the easement to the west. The permanent tree and brush clearing impacts required by the Project are expected to be approximately 19.2 acres, with approximately 3.0 acres of permanent tree and brush clearing impacts to jurisdictional wetlands and waters. (R. at p. 6). “Jurisdictional” wetlands refer to those wetlands and waters that are subject to jurisdiction and regulation of the U.S Army Corps of Engineers and/or DHEC. (Final Order at R. p. 6).

Specifically, the proposed project will result in temporary clearing impacts to the 6.326 acres of wetlands and 53 linear feet of stream, temporary excavation impacts to 8.35 acres of wetlands and 119 linear feet of stream, permanent fill impact to 0.0041 acres of wetlands and 22 linear feet (0.0045 acre) of stream, and permanent clearing impacts to 2.986 acres of wetlands and 21 linear feet of stream. (Final Order at R. pp. 8-9; Request for Final Review Conference at R. p. 93). Stated differently, Dominion’s project proposes impacts to 32 separate wetlands or waters, including:

- Twenty-seven (27) temporary excavation impacts totaling 8.378 acres;
- Twenty-nine (29) permanent clearing impacts totaling 2.990 acres;
- Three (3) permanent fill impacts totaling 0.009 acres; and
- Nine (9) temporary clearing impacts totaling 6.337 acres. (R. at Ibid.)

2. Blue Ridge Environmental Defense League (BREDL)

BREDL is a non-profit 501(c)(3) environmental education organization whose members utilize the tributaries of the Great Pee Dee River for recreation, socialization, leisure, and appreciation of the tributaries' historical and cultural significance. Founded in 1984, BREDL is a six-state organization with chapters from Valdosta, Georgia to Roanoke, Virginia. (R. p. 535:1-22). BREDL is made up of chapters, who each choose a member for the board of directors responsible for the organization's major decision-making. (R. 538:9-539:6). One of the chapters of BREDL with an elected board member is the Pamlico Defense League, which has approximately twenty-three (23) members and is centrally located to the pipeline. (R. pp. 539:7-540:8; R. p. 566:13-22).

3. BREDL's Witnesses

Ms. Gail "Kathy" Andrews is a property owner in Pamlico, a member of BREDL and its Pamlico Defense League chapter, and also serves as BREDL's current executive director where she manages a small staff and helps chapters across the country dealing with environmental issues. (R. pp. 564:24-565:3; p. 561:16-24). Ms. Andrews testified her property borders Jeffries Creek and she joined BREDL upon learning of Dominion's plans to build another pipeline on her property. (R. pp. 565:23-566:22; pp. 577:25-578:24). Ms. Andrews grew up in Pamlico and testified her family has been there for centuries with a large portion of her family still living there to this day. (R. p. 567:17-23; p. 574:5-17). Ms. Andrews testified as a child she spent the weekends at her family's farm and paddled Jeffries Creek, Bigham Branch, and Mill Branch in her grandfathers' old paddle boat where she took pictures, congregated with other family members who had motorized boats, and went fishing in her grandmother's favorite spots, so densely forested they had to use string to find their way back. (R. pp. 567:23-570:6; pp. 571:9-13; pp. 575:12-576:4).

Ms. Andrews utilizes the waters in Pamplico to this day, testifying she'd just boated Jeffries Creek, Bigham Branch, and Mill Creek in a motorized fishing boat the week before trial to take photos with a friend. (R. pp. 570:20-572:12). Ms. Andrews also testified that she has concerns about the project's impacts on endangered species, history and habitat loss because she likes taking pictures and viewing the waters and wildlife, such as sturgeon, American eel, shiners and owls. (R. p. 587:19-22; pp. 588:16-589:10; pp. 569:12-573:12). Ms. Andrews also enjoys taking photos of the area, saying, "[c]annonballs have been found in that water, civil war. You know, revolutionary hero Francis Marion went through the swamps of the Great Pee Dee River. Indian artifacts have been found there." (R. p. 587:19-22; pp. 588:16-589:10). As a member of BREDL, Ms. Andrews further testified about her concerns regarding fairness, justice, and environmental justice and stated Dominion's plans for the area raise "an environmental justice issue." (R. p. 585:21-24; p. 566:10-12).

Reverend Calvin Robinson is a member of BREDL who has participated in numerous BREDL activities and owns property on Mill Branch that his parents live on. (R. p. 523:21-23; pp. 524:11-525:5). Rev. Robinson is a pastor at the 155-year-old Trinity Baptist Church, which has approximately 325 members living in Florence County. (R. p. 523:2-11). Rev. Robinson testified he utilizes his property to enjoy peace and quiet, fresh water, wildlife viewing and target practice. (R. p. 524:11-18; p. 526:7-20). Rev. Robinson testified he is worried the project will interrupt the serenity he finds on his land. (R. p. 530:14-19). Rev. Robinson testified he'd heard the pipeline was to support growth but he stated that he doesn't see how the project helps Pamplico or Mill Branch because the area is mostly farms. (R. pp. 524:6-526:2). Rev. Robinson shares BREDL's concerns about the project and is concerned DHEC's issuance of the permit

will allow digging and wetland damage that may degrade water quality because his water comes from the underground well and the river area. (R. pp. 528:5-529:14; pp. 531:10-532:4).

Mr. Louis Zeller is a member of BREDL and has worked for the organization for several decades in many capacities, including community organizer, administrator, science director, and, ultimately, executive director before his recent retirement. (R. pp. 534:23-538:8). On BREDL's behalf, Mr. Zeller submitted comments on the project several times, first in July 2020, then again in June 2021. (R. pp. 545:3-552:1). Mr. Zeller shares BREDL's concerns about the project's impact on global warming, testifying the impacts from burning natural gas are just as impactful as other fossil fuels such as coal. (R. pp. 556:6-557:4). Mr. Zeller shares the community's concerns about the loss of heirs' properties that have been in some families for a century and the project's impact on Pamlico farmers and their ability to pass down property. (R. pp. 555:3-557:4).

BREDL called Department of Natural Resources ("DNR")'s inland environmental coordinator, Greg Mixon, and he testified part of his duties for DNR involve reviewing and commenting on public notices for environmental permits on the agency's behalf as part of DNR's statutory duty to advocate for the state's natural resources. (R. pp. 609:24-610:9).

4. DHEC's witnesses

DHEC called Mr. William "Rusty" Wenerick as a fact witness. (R. p. 635:2-13). Mr. Wenerick testified he is a project manager in the water quality certification and methods program. (R. p. 635:22-23). His duties involve reviewing applications for 401 WQC and permits for construction in navigable waters for DHEC. (R. p. 636:1-3). Mr. Wenerick was the project manager who reviewed the application for this case. (R. p. 637:6-10).

During trial, the deposition designation of DHEC's Mr. Chuck Hightower (Ex. 75) was admitted into evidence. (R. pp. 601:3-603:12). Mr. Hightower was designated as the representative of DHEC to speak to its issuance of a 401 WQC and the project's implications regarding Regulation 19-450. (Ex. 75, Hightower Designations, 8:3-6, 8:10-15, and 8:24-9:22 all at R. p. 802).²

5. Dominion's Witnesses

Dominion called Mr. Robert Priester as a witness. (R. p. 705:9-15). Mr. Priester is a project manager for Dominion Energy South Carolina where he oversees projects or various aspects of projects. (R. p. 706:4-9). He began working on the project in late 2019 or early 2020. (R. pp. 707:23-708:9). During trial, the deposition designation of Mr. Priester (Ex. 76) was also admitted into evidence. (R. pp. 601:3-603:12).

Dominion also called Mr. Darrell Shier as a witness. (R. p. 763:6-8). During trial, the deposition designation of Mr. Shier (Ex. 77) was admitted into evidence. (R. pp. 601:3-603:12; 782:17-20).³ Mr. Shier testified he works for Dominion Energy Services. (R. p. 763:19). Dominion Energy Services provides environmental policy and permitting direction for various capital projects built by Dominion in all of its operating states, which includes projects not only in South Carolina but also in North Carolina, Ohio and Utah. (R. pp. 763:20-764:8; 764:13-18). Mr. Shier testified he became manager over his group in late 2020 and it helps communicate with regulatory agencies and direct the work of consultants. (R. p. 765:7-12).

² See Petitioner's Designations filed February 23, 2023 (R. pp. 793-899) ; *see also* R. pp. 601:3-603:12 (admitting the deposition designation of Mr. Hightower (Ex. 75) taken Nov. 2, 2022 into the record without objection).

³ Compare Petitioner's Deposition Page and Line Designations filed February 23, 2023 *with* Trial Tr. at R. 601:3-603:12; p. 782:17-20 (admitting Ex. 76, the designation of Mr. Priester, and Ex. 77, the deposition designation of Mr. Shier taken on December 15, 2022, into the record without objection).

6. Purported Project Need

Dominion asserts that the Project is needed to serve an anticipated increase in demand for natural gas in eastern South Carolina due to projected residential and commercial growth and current seasonal demand issues. Mr. Robert Priester, a Project Manager for Dominion, testified that Dominion anticipated an increase in natural gas demand for the area served by the Project through 2050 using information derived from its own Planning Group and population growth estimates from Horry County. (R. pp. 710:2-712:24). Mr. Priester was not qualified as an expert witness and, therefore, did not offer testimony to any degree of professional certainty with regard to population growth and projected need that Dominion claims to anticipate.⁴ Indeed, Mr. Priester testified that he's not aware of a specific level of certainty Dominion has its projected growth will actually occur. (Exh. 76, Priester Desig., 24:4-13 at R. p. 838).

Dominion itself: (1) does not know an exact percentage of residential growth compared to commercial growth; (2) has no knowledge of the types of specific industrial or commercial customers growth is anticipated; and (3) has no agreements or obligations necessitating additional capacity aside from its general obligation as a public utility in South Carolina. (Exh. 76, Priester Designation, 24:4-25:12 at R. pp. 838-839).

Serving as a fact witness, Mr. Priester did, however, testify that during cold weather events, Dominion currently supplements its system with compressed natural gas and/or liquified natural gas via trucking to maintain reliable services for customers that are served from the existing eight-inch main. (R. pp. 712:13-727:4). Nevertheless, Dominion offered no evidence or testimony at the hearing as to how many trucks it uses during these cold weather events, how

⁴ A review of the record demonstrates that neither Dominion nor DHEC qualified any expert witnesses to support their assertions regarding population growth, project need, and the effects that routing this project through protected waterbodies and wetlands would have on water quality.

frequently it uses them, or how many future trucks would be required if the project were not constructed.

In its Notice of Department Decision (NODD), DHEC identified the purpose of the project as “support[ing] growth in the area by providing additional capacity and flexibility to meet current and anticipated future customer demands for natural gas.” (Exh. 75, Hightower Desig., 42:16-43:3 at R. p. 811).⁵ As the ALC’s Final Order notes, DHEC did not conduct its own evaluation of the need for natural gas in the area but rather merely relied on Dominion’s assertions and analysis. (Final Order at R. p. 5). Nevertheless, DHEC, like Dominion, testified this project is not water dependent, meaning: there is no inherent requirement that the project be routed through any bodies of water or wetlands as currently planned. (Exh. 75, Hightower Desig. 63:3-5 at R. p. 816).

The “area” referred to in the project purpose DHEC utilized in reviewing the proposed project is the entirety of the Pee Dee area of South Carolina and the kind of growth to be supported by this proposed project would be business, industrial, and economic development. (Ex. 75, Hightower Desig., 43:4-44:1 at R. p. 811). However, DHEC did not know of any specifics on the type of expected business or industrial growth or how proximate any potential growth was to the pipeline expansion at issue here. (Ibid., 44:6-11 at R. p. 811). DHEC also: (1) does not know of any customers in the area not having their natural gas needs met; and (2) did not know of any current demand not being met by Dominion in this area; and (3) does not believe it has the expertise to determine whether there was future demand for natural gas in the area. (Ibid., 44:16-20; 44:24-45:16, all at R. p. 811).

⁵ Dominion testified the existing 8-inch pipeline currently serves residential, commercial and industrial customers in eastern South Carolina. (Ex. 76, Priester Desig., 17:9-12 at R. p. 837). As set forth herein, Dominion seeks to expand the easement containing the current pipeline, install a new 16-inch pipeline along its side, and condemn heirs property in a historically low-income, minority population.

Mr. Wenerick, a project manager in DHEC's water quality certification and methods program, testified applications must also describe planned or proposed future development reasonably associated with the proposed project so DHEC can consider the water quality implications of the development. (R. p. 684:9-25). Mr. Wenerick testified Dominion mentioned no future development in the application, indirectly or directly, and though the project's purpose was to support growth, Dominion didn't mention what growth would be supported by the project. (R. p. 685:1-11, 20-23). Further, Mr. Wenerick testified DHEC did not assess the impact the growth serviced by the project would have on water quality in the Pee Dee River basin. (R. p. 685:3-6). Dominion, for its part, did not introduce any evidence as to the cumulative effects of the growth it claims to anticipate.

7. Project Alternatives

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