**RECEIVED**

**Dec 10 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

The Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III  
Chief Administrative Law Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-001351

---

Blue Ridge Environmental Defense League,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Environmental Services  
and Dominion Energy,

Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT DOMINION ENERGY**

---

Elizabeth B. Partlow (S.C Bar No. 4348)  
LAW OFFICES OF ELIZABETH B. PARTLOW, LLC  
1800 Platt Springs Road  
West Columbia, SC 29169  
Telephone: (803) 814-0868

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

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The Issues in this Appeal Are Moot Because No Justiciable Controversy Remains.**

#### **A. Essential Criteria for Justiciability**

“A threshold inquiry for any court is a determination of justiciability, i.e., whether the litigation presents an active case or controversy.” *Holden v. Cribb*, 349 S.C. 132, 137 (Ct. App. 2002) (quotation omitted). “A justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy which is appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a dispute or difference of a contingent, hypothetical or abstract character.” *Byrd v. Irmo High Sch*, 321 S.C. 426, 430-31 (1996).

The concept of justiciability includes the doctrine of mootness. *Jackson v. State*, 331 S.C.

486, 490 n.2 (1997). An appellate court will not pass on moot and academic questions or make an adjudication where there remains no actual controversy.” *Croft as Tr. of James A. Croft Tr. v. Town of Summerville*, 433 S.C. 473, 480 (2021). A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon the existing controversy. *Sloan v. Greenville Cnty.*, 380 S.C. 528, 535 (Ct. App. 2009). Mootness also arises when some event occurs making it impossible for the reviewing court to grant effectual relief. *Id.*

**B. The Corps’ Verification that the Project Qualifies for Coverage Under NWP 12 is an Intervening Event that Renders BREDL’s Requested Relief Impossible.**

As discussed above, Dominion applied for coverage under NWP 12 from the Corps pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1344 (“Section 404”). NWP 12 is a type of Section 404 general permit that authorizes discharges of dredged or fill material into waters of the United States and structures or work in navigable waters for crossings of those waters associated with the construction, maintenance, or repair of oil and natural gas pipelines. “The requirement for a [Section 404] permit from the Corps in turn triggers a requirement under [Section 401 (33 U.S.C. § 1341)] of the Clean Water Act for water quality certification that any discharge into navigable waters is consistent with federal and state water quality standards.” *Town of Arcadia Lakes v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control*, 404 S.C. 515, 522 (Ct. App. 2013). “[Section 401] certification is required ‘from the State in which the discharge originates or will originate.’” *Id.* (quoting 33 U.S.C. 1341(a)(1)). DHEC issued the Certification for the Project pursuant to this authority and S.C. Code Regs. 61-101.

The Corps verified<sup>8</sup> that the Project qualified to be covered under NWP 12 on October 10, 2023, and in so doing rendered BREDL’s challenges to the Certification moot. South Carolina

---

<sup>8</sup> A copy of the verification was attached as Ex. A to Dominion’s Return to Appellant’s Petition for Writ of Supersedeas, filed in this Court on April 25, 2024. (R. pp. 1430-1513.)

courts have recognized that DHEC's revocation of a Section 401 certification does not affect the underlying Corps permit. For example, the South Carolina Supreme Court previously determined that even if DHEC properly could revoke a 401 certification at issue in that case, "it would be a futile act unless the [Corps] subsequently suspended and revoked [its] respective permit[...]" *Triska v. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*, 292 S.C. 190, 196 (1987).

In response to a request to stay a final order by the ALC affirming the validity of a Section 401 certification issued by DHEC for a different project, the ALC concluded that the Corps' issuance of the corresponding Section 404 permit shortly after issuance of the final order mooted the appeal. *S.C. Coastal Conservation League v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Env't Control*, Docket No. 15-ALJ-07-0404-CC, 2016 SC ENV LEXIS 33, Order Denying Stay (Oct. 10, 2016).<sup>9</sup> The ALC held that "it was the Federal Government, through the [Corps], that authorized construction of the road by issuing the Section 404 permit."<sup>10</sup> Indeed, the Corps' issuance of the Section 404

---

<sup>9</sup> In the appeal of the *S.C. Coastal Conservation League* case, the appellants moved for a supersedeas order, arguing not only that the ALC had made specific errors, but also that the case involved both a Section 401 certification and a Coastal Zone Management Certification, the latter being required by state law independent of the federal Section 404 permit. After considering the motion, the return, and the reply, this Court issued a brief order imposing a stay "to prevent contested issues from becoming moot." The order, which was issued on December 15, 2016, contained no additional analysis. *See* Ex. C to Dominion's Return to Appellant's Petition for Writ of Supersedeas. (R. pp. 1531-1533.) In its Petition, BREDL cited this unpublished order for the proposition that the Court overturned the ALC's holding that the issuance of the Section 404 permit mooted the appeal. This is incorrect. Just a month after imposing the stay, on January 20, 2017, the Court lifted the stay over the objection of the appellants and imposed certain conditions. *See* Ex. D to Dominion's Return to Appellant's Petition for Writ of Supersedeas. (R. pp. 1534-1536.) Both the motion to lift the stay and the return to the motion recited case-specific facts in support of their respective positions. Appellants moved for reconsideration of the order lifting the stay, which the Court denied on February 6, 2017. *See* Ex. E to Dominion's Return to Appellant's Petition for Writ of Supersedeas. (R. pp. 1537-1539.) The case later settled. It is impossible to know, based on the available record, whether the Court imposed a stay because it disagreed with the ALC's analysis of the mootness issue based on the Coastal Zone Management Certification, disagreed with the ALC's analysis entirely, or had some other reason to conclude that a stay was necessary to prevent the issues in the case from becoming moot. It is also impossible to know the Court's reasoning for lifting the stay, with conditions, a month later. The Court's brief unpublished orders simply do not tell us, and SCACR Rule 268(d)(2) wisely states that memorandum opinions and unpublished orders have no precedential value and only should be cited in proceedings in which they are directly involved.

<sup>10</sup> In *Murphy v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*, 396 S.C. 633, 723 S.E.2d 191 (2012), the appellant challenged a Section 401 certification issued by DHEC. The Section 401 certification was necessary to accommodate the expansion of Chapin High School, which required a Section 404 permit from the Corps to fill in a portion of the stream on the property. The Corps issued the Section 404 permit during the pendency of the appeal of DHEC's Section 401 certification. The Supreme Court upheld DHEC's analysis of practicable alternatives, noting that "although the

permit was an intervening event that rendered the matter moot. *Id.* at 13-14.

Courts in other jurisdictions have reached a similar conclusion. *See e.g., Minn. Ctr. for Env't Advocacy v. Minn. Pollution Control Agency*, Case No. C4-97-1676, LEXIS 953, at \*\*5-6 (Minn. Ct. App. Aug. 18, 1998) (holding that the Corps' issuance of a Section 404 permit rendered moot a decision on the appeal of Section 401 certification because the state court's determination as to the validity of the Section 401 certification would have no legal effect on, or impact, the permittee's ability to go forward with the project); *City of Shoreacres v. Tex. Comm'n on Env't Quality*, 166 S.W.3d 825, 838 (3d. Tex. Ct. App. 2005) (holding that challenges to Section 401 certification became moot upon the Corps' issuance of a Section 404 permit because the petitioners' requested relief would not have had a practical legal effect on the controversy due to the state agency's inability to alter the Section 404 permit); *see also Keating v. FERC*, 927 F.2d 616, 624 (D.C. Cir. 1991) (holding that "disputes over [the validity of Section 401 certifications], at least so long as they precede the issuance of any federal license or permit, are properly left to the states themselves.") (emphasis in original).

Dominion is aware of DHEC's position that the issuance of the federal permit by the Corps should not moot the current appeal, as there remains a *possibility* that the Corps could take into account a decision affecting the validity of the Certification. However, as highlighted by the ALC, "the myriad of factors that would influence that result renders this potentiality exceedingly speculative." (Denial Order at 13, R. p. 1527.) An "exceedingly speculative" possibility is insufficient to overcome mootness. *See Sloan v. Greenville Cnty.*, 380 S.C. at 535 ("The court does

---

analysis of the Corps is not dispositive, because the Corps eventually issued the fill permit, it apparently concluded that the [permittee] had overcome these presumptions and established no practicable alternatives existed." *Id.* at 645, 723 S.E. 2d at 198. While the Supreme Court retained jurisdiction of the appeal after issuance of the Section 404 permit, the Court was silent, and the parties apparently did not raise, whether the issuance of the Section 404 permit mooted the challenge to the Section 401 certification. Accordingly, *Murphy* is distinguishable from and does not invalidate the ALC's decision in the *S.C. Coastal Conservation League* case.

not concern itself with moot or speculative questions.”)

As the Supreme Court stated in *Triska*, only the permitting agencies have authority to revoke or suspend a permit once it has been issued. 292 S.C. at 196. The Supreme Court also noted that DHEC is not unduly restrained by the Court’s interpretation of its authority. (*Id.*) Rather, “the proper procedure for DHEC to utilize, if it has concerns about changes in the water quality, is to notify the permitting agencies of the problems in order for these agencies to review the permits.” (*Id.*) As the ALC noted, the issuance of the Certification “**does not authorize Dominion’s construction of the Project.**” (Denial Order at 14 (emphasis in original), R. p. 1528.) On the contrary, “the Corps’ Section 404 permit is the only permit that authorizes Dominion to commence construction of the Project and the only permit for which a stay would be effective to grant BREDL the relief it seeks.” *Id.* Further, DHEC “did not issue an independent state permit under regulation 19-450, the stay of which could possibly halt construction.” *Id.*

For these reasons, the Corps’ issuance of the CWA Section 404 permit renders BREDL’s challenges to the Certification moot, and this case should be dismissed in its entirety.

## **II. The Substantial Evidence in the Record Supports the ALC’s Decision that DHEC Properly Issued the Certification to Dominion.**

The ALC made its findings of fact by a preponderance of the evidence “[h]aving observed the witnesses and exhibits presented at the hearing and taking into consideration the burden of persuasion and credibility of the witnesses.” (Final Order at 2, R. p. 2.) The ALC’s decision is supported by substantial evidence in the record, including the testimony of key witnesses and the exhibits submitted to the court. As discussed in detail below, BREDL’s arguments fail to show that the ALC’s rulings in its Final Order are unsupported by the substantial evidence in the record. Accordingly, BREDL’s appeal should be dismissed, and this Court should affirm DHEC’s issuance of the Certification to Dominion.

**A. The Substantial Evidence in the Record Supports the ALC's Determination that Respondents Properly Considered Feasible Alternatives in Compliance with S.C. Code Regs. 61-101(F)(3)(b).**

i. *Dominion Proffered Sufficient Evidence to Establish the Project Need.*

BREDL argues that the Certification should have been denied because Dominion failed to provide any substantive, verifiable evidence regarding population growth, which is Dominion's justification for the Project need. (*See* Appellant's Br. at 35.) However, Dominion's witnesses testified ***without contradiction*** that the population in the Myrtle Beach area is growing rapidly. (Final Order at 4-5, R. pp. 4-5.)

Mr. Robert Priester, a Project Manager for Dominion and a licensed Professional Engineer in South Carolina, explained that Dominion projected the anticipated natural gas demand for the area served by the Project through 2050 using data from its Planning Group and population growth estimates<sup>11</sup> from the Horry County Imagine 2040 Plan. (Tr. at 217, 220-233, R. p. 706, lines 4-19, R. p. 708, line 9 - p. 722, line 20; *see also* Respondents' Ex. 2,<sup>12</sup> [River Neck Road Corridor Pipeline Sizing Report], R. pp. 957-958.) Dominion anticipates that 45 percent of the increased population will need natural gas services. (*See* Tr. at 222, R. p. 711, lines 14-22.) Utilizing Synergi Gas software, Dominion modeled six different scenarios, including those without the existing eight-inch pipeline in service. (Tr. at 226-227, R. p. 715, line 18 - p. 716, line 19; Final Order at 4, R. p. 4.) Inputs to the model included the existing pipeline system, proposed alternative scenarios, and anticipated demand growth within the pipeline system. (Tr. at 229, R. p. 718, lines 1-14.) Based on this analysis, Dominion determined that construction of the Project was necessary. (Final Order at 5, R. p. 5.)

---

<sup>11</sup> Florence County has experienced significant business and job growth in recent years, including securing an \$89 million investment and 403 arriving jobs. *See* Respondents Ex. 3, at 9, R. p. 960.)

<sup>12</sup> Admitted into evidence to establish what Dominion relied upon for its feasible alternative analysis. (R. p. 708, line 9 - p. 722, line 20.)

The Project must begin at River Neck Road, where Dominion receives natural gas from third-party upstream suppliers, and connect to the Kingsburg Station, where it splits into multiple smaller pipelines heading south to Johnsonville and east to Conway. (Tr. at 233-235, R. p. 722, line 21 – p. 724, line 17; Final Order at 4, R. p. 4.) Along the route, several smaller lines tap off the existing eight-inch main, serving residential communities, the Town of Pamplico, and the Lake City area, among others. (Tr. at 236, R. 725, lines 9-24; Final Order at 4, R. p. 4.) There are also some smaller tap lines that serve individual customers or smaller groups of houses. (*Id.*) This strategic routing ensures that the Project will effectively meet the growing energy needs of these expanding communities.

Mr. Priester further testified that Dominion’s analysis regarding projected growth utilized information from Dominion’s resource group and information from Horry County for growth population estimates. (Tr. at 221-223, R. p. 710, line 19 – p. 712, line 7.) He also testified that during cold weather events, Dominion is forced to supplement its system with compressed natural gas and/or liquefied natural gas via trucks to maintain services for customers served from the existing eight-inch main. (*Id.* at 237-238, R. p. 726, lines 2 - p. 727, line 4.) This evidence shows that even without the projected growth, the existing infrastructure is insufficient to meet the current needs of the customers.

To support its determination that the Project is needed, Dominion submitted Respondents’ Ex. 2 into the record, the “River Neck Road Corridor Pipeline Sizing Report,” which explains Dominion’s analysis of the expected natural gas demand growth necessitating construction of the Project. (*See* R. 708, line 9 - p. 722, line 20; R. pp. 957-958.) Consistent with Dominion’s testimony, DHEC also identified the purpose of the Project as “support[ing] growth in the area by providing additional capacity and flexibility to meet current and anticipated future customer

demands for natural gas.” (See Respondents’ Ex. 1<sup>13</sup> (Staff Assessment) at 1, R. p. 913.) The information presented by Dominion is verifiable and undisputed. Considering the evidence presented as a whole, reasonable minds could reach the same conclusion as the ALC – the “Project is needed to serve the increasing demand for natural gas in South Carolina due to projected residential and commercial growth and current seasonal demand issues.” (Final Order at 4, R. p. 4.); see also *Kiawah Dev. Partners, II v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control*, 422 S.C. at 636.

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